# **RECEIVED**

06-12-2015

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

# STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV Appeal No. 15AP000640-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

TAMMY R. FULLMER,

Defendant-Appellant.

**BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT** 

ON APPEAL FROM A CONVICTION IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR COLUMBIA COUNTY, THE HONORABLE W. ANDREW VOIGT, PRESIDING AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED BY THE HONORABLE DANIEL GEORGE

Respectfully submitted, TAMMY R. FULLMER Defendant-Appellant, by, AUGUST LAW OFFICE L.L.C. Attorney for the Defendant-Appellant 10 E. Doty Street, Suite 821 Madison, WI 53703 (608) 204-5804

#### ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Was trial counsel ineffective for not presenting adequate evidence that would have disproved the State's account of the underlying stop and arrest at a suppression hearing?

The trial court found that counsel's performance was deficient but not prejudicial.

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Ms. Fullmer is not requesting oral argument and the case is not eligible for publication.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This appeal originates from a plea entered on October 24, 2013. (48:1). On that date, Ms. Fullmer pleaded no contest to counts one and three of the criminal complaint, operating while intoxicated ("OWI") as a second offense and resisting or obstructing an officer. (17:1). The sentence was stayed pending the outcome of this appeal. (48:15). A notice of intent was timely filed. (16:1).

Attorney Jefren E. Olsen was appointed as appellate counsel. (19:2). After Attorney Olsen identified a conflict of interest, undersigned counsel was appointed in his stead. (21:2; 23:1). A timely motion for postconviction relief was filed.

(26:1). That motion challenged trial counsel's effectiveness with respect to an underlying suppression hearing. (26:8). A motion hearing was held on December 8, 2014. (49:1). An exchange of supplemental briefs followed. (32:1-9; 33:1-10; 34:1-4). In an oral ruling on March 6, 2015, the trial court denied the motion for postconviction relief. (51:7). This appeal followed. (41:1-2).

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

The underlying events occurred on July 1, 2012 at around one o'clock in the morning. (47:5). Officer Aeriond Liu of the Poynette Police Department was parked on the "wayside of U.S. Highway 51"—"a couple hundred feet" outside the Village of Poynette and his lawful jurisdiction. (47:19). Notably, the speed limit decreased from 55 to 35 within the village limits. (47:19-20).

Officer Liu observed a solitary vehicle headed in his direction. (47:5; 47:23). He testified at the suppression hearing that the vehicle was "traveling slowly." (47:6). His initial visual estimate was that the vehicle was traveling "around 40 miles per hour." (47:6). Officer Liu took a radar reading and verified that the vehicle was going 35 miles per hour. (47:6). This was lawful conduct, even though the speed limit had not yet changed over from 55 to 35. (47:23).

Officer Liu began to follow the vehicle. (47:6). Officer Liu testified that he observed the vehicle weave. (47:7). In a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Although the original circuit court case was presided over by the Honorable W. Andrew Voigt, the case was transferred to the Honorable Daniel George at some point in the postconviction proceedings. (50:5-6). Ms. Fullmer consented to that inadvertent substitution. (51:3).

contemporaneous written report he indicated that the weaving was "within the lane." (47:21). The alleged weaving was not recorded on video. (47:58; 11). Officer Liu continued to follow the vehicle. (47:7).

He then observed what he described as an "early" use of a turn signal. (47:7). He alleged that the vehicle continued to weave after completing the turn. (47:7). In his testimony at the suppression hearing, Officer Liu claimed that the vehicle was "driving down the center of the roadway" although he also acknowledged that "there is no fog lines on that street so I didn't have any fog line or center stripe to make my assessment." (47:7).

The vehicle then properly signaled and stopped at the intersection of East Seward Street and North Main Street in Poynette. (47:8). Officer Liu alleged, however, that the stop was nevertheless unlawful as the vehicle "came to a stop past the white stop line that marks where you are supposed to stop at the stop sign." (47:8). After following the vehicle to a residential driveway, Officer Liu conducted a traffic stop. (47:9). His stated reason for the stop was "erratic driving, improper stop at stop sign." (47:28).

Ms. Fullmer, the driver, was ultimately arrested for an OWI offense and for resisting or obstructing an officer. (47:13-14).

# **Suppression Motion**

Trial counsel for Ms. Fullmer promptly filed a motion to suppress evidence based on an unlawful stop and arrest. (8:1). An evidentiary hearing was held on October 22, 2013.

(47:1). That hearing is the source of the version of events described herein. (47:1-66).

Officer Liu testified that while he could have chosen to manually record Ms. Fullmer's alleged weaving, he chose not to. (47:32-33). A short video of Ms. Fullmer's driving immediately prior to the stop was admitted as a defense exhibit. (47:47-48; 11). On that video, there is no observable weaving. (11). A number of proper driving maneuvers, accompanied by appropriate signaling and stopping, are exhibited. (11). This evidence, trial counsel argued, raised serious doubts as to Officer Liu's version of events. (47:52).

Trial counsel also argued that Officer Liu's version of events was fundamentally problematic in that it he was clearly mistaken as to one essential aspect of his narrative: The existence of the white stop line Ms. Fullmer allegedly failed to abide by. (47:53). While Officer Liu claimed that he knew "for a fact that there was a white stop line there at that intersection," trial counsel introduced a Google Maps photograph that apparently contradicted that claim. (47:24; 47:25-26). Although he called the line "imaginary" at one point in his testimony, Officer Liu repeatedly asserted that Ms. Fullmer had failed to stop at a physically existing line. (47:27; 47:8; 47:40; 47:41).

The existence of the stop line was the subject of "significant debate" at the motion hearing. (47:59). Officer Liu pointed out that trial counsel's photograph was undated and therefore implicitly unreliable. (47:26). The State also objected to the admission of the Google Maps exhibit, pointing out its lack of a date. (47:46). The State asserted that it was not an accurate representation of the scene. (47:27). The State also

asserted that the stop line existed and relied on that line's existence in its argument for both reasonable suspicion and probable cause. (47:49-50). Although trial counsel eventually testified at a postconviction hearing that he did not anticipate a disagreement as to the line's nonexistence, he actually conceded at the motion hearing that he did not know whether a line existed or not. (49:10-11; 47:53).

The trial court accepted the line's existence. (47:62). It denied the defense motion, asserting that there was reasonable suspicion to stop Ms. Fullmer based on one of three possible rationales:

- Her alleged weaving;
- Her alleged failure to stop;
- Both of these alleged violations combined.

(47:56-63). In addition, it held that there was probable cause to arrest for OWI. (47:62).

## Postconviction Proceedings

Ms. Fullmer, by counsel, ultimately filed a postconviction motion alleging ineffective assistance with respect to the suppression hearing. (54:1-45). Ms. Fullmer appended to that motion numerous pieces of evidence intended to prove that the stop line did not exist on the night in question. (54:21-32).

At the *Machner* hearing held on December 8<sup>th</sup> of 2014, the State conceded, for the first time, that the stop line in question did not exist. (49:4-5). Trial counsel testified that the issue was legally significant and that he had failed to present

sufficient evidence that would enable the trial court to conclude the line did not exist. (49:8-10). Trial counsel testified that he had no strategic reason for not obtaining properly authenticated and dated photographs that could have definitively resolved the issue. (49:9-10).

Officer Liu was called as a witness by the State. (49:15). Officer Liu testified that he did not "believe" there was a stop line at that intersection. (49:17). However, he also testified that the line was "imaginary" and "exists even if it's not clearly painted on the ground." (49:17). He also averred, for the first time, that he may have mistaken the crosswalk for a stop line. (49:17).

The trial court, in an oral ruling, held that trial counsel was constitutionally deficient for failing to properly present sufficient evidence as to the stop line's nonexistence. (51:4). However, it held that trial counsel's performance was not prejudicial as there were other grounds for upholding the stop of Ms. Fullmer's vehicle. (51:7).

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

In this case, trial counsel was confronted with a traffic stop based in part on erroneous information. Trial counsel could have easily proven that Officer Liu was mistaken as to a relatively rudimentary fact that was critical to the reasonable suspicion calculus. Instead, he merely printed off an undated Google Maps photograph. This was deficient performance. Trial counsel's failure to present adequate evidence disproving Officer's Liu's account was prejudicial inasmuch as it undermines confidence in the resulting outcome—the trial court's decision to deny the suppression motion.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

Determining whether trial counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel is a mixed question of fact and law. *State v. Sanchez*, 201 Wis. 2d 219, 236, 548 N.W.2d 69 (1996). An appellate court will not overturn a trial court's findings of fact concerning counsel's conduct and strategy unless the findings are clearly erroneous. *Id.* However, whether counsel's performance was deficient and whether the deficient performance prejudiced the defense are questions of law which this Court reviews de novo without deference to the circuit court. *Id.* at 236-37.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to adequately corroborate his allegation that there was no white stop line.

#### A. Legal standard.

A criminal defendant has the right to the effective assistance of counsel under both the State and Federal constitution. U.S. CONST. AMEND. VI & XIV; WIS. CONST. ART. 1, § 7 & 8. To prevail on an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, a defendant must establish that counsel's performance was deficient and that counsel's deficient performance was prejudicial. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). An attorney's performance is deficient if it falls "below objective standards of reasonableness." *State v. Thiel*, 2003 WI 111, ¶ 33, 264 Wis. 2d 571, 665 N.W.2d 305.

To prove prejudice, the defendant must show that counsel's deficient performance was "sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Thiel*, 2003 WI 111,  $\P$  20 (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694). Trial counsel's ineffectiveness constitutes a manifest injustice, thereby allowing a criminal defendant to withdraw a plea of guilty. *State v. Bentley*, 201 Wis.2d 303, 311, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996).

#### B. Deficient performance.

The stop line's existence was a central issue in this case. (47:59-60). Officer Liu elected to conduct a traffic stop of Ms. Fullmer for two stated reasons: 1) her alleged weaving and 2) her failure to stop properly at an intersection. (47:28).

Importantly, one of the stated rationales for the stop has now been conclusively disproven via the State's postconviction stipulation. (49:4-5). Trial counsel's instincts have been proven correct with respect to a fact trial counsel considered legally significant. (49:8). The problem, however, is that trial counsel did not do the necessary legwork to adequately present this issue to the court at the proper time. Trial counsel could have easily sent out a staff investigator to view the scene and take photographs. (49:10). He chose not to do so. He could have easily obtained information from the Village of Poynette, as prior appellate counsel did, as to the line's existence. (49:10). He chose not to do so. Instead he used only an undated, "old," Google Maps photograph. (49:9).

The trial court was therefore not persuaded as to the line's nonexistence and based its ruling on an inaccurate understanding of the facts and an incomplete assessment of Officer Liu's credibility. That outcome was avoidable. When

confronted with the exhibits contained in the postconviction motion, the State quickly conceded the underlying factual issue. Trial counsel, for his part, conceded that he had no strategic reason for not doing more to expose the weaknesses in the State's account. (49:10). This was deficient performance.

# C. Trial counsel's deficient performance prejudiced Ms. Fullmer.

## i. Legal standard.

When trial counsel fails to bring a suppression motion, courts usually evaluate that claim in light of whether or not the suppression issue would have succeeded. See State v. Jackson, 229 Wis.2d 328, 344, 600 N.W.2d 39 (Ct. App. 1999), review denied, 230 Wis.2d 272, 604 N.W.2d 571 (1999). There is a paucity of cases, however, dealing with the exact situation here: A scenario in which the trial attorney correctly identifies the issue and brings a meritorious motion but whose conduct with respect to the ensuing motion hearing nevertheless falls below an objective standard of reasonableness.

Importantly, the prejudice prong of the *Strickland* standard *is not* intended to be outcome determinative. *See State v. Moffett*, 147 Wis.2d 343, 354, 433 N.W. 2d 572 (1989). The proper question is whether trial counsel's errors undermine this Court's confidence in the ensuing outcome—the trial court's decision to deny the motion. *See Id.* at 357. Criminal defendants need not prove acquittal would have occurred but-for trial counsel's errors in the context of a trial. Rather, ineffectiveness will be found even when the evidence against them is otherwise substantial. *See State v. Pitsch*, 125 Wis.2d 628, 645, 369 N.W.2d 711 (1985). Importing those

concepts to the suppression hearing context, it is clear that the omitted evidence undermines confidence in the trial court's decision to deny the defense motion. But for counsel's error, there is a reasonable possibility that Ms. Fullmer would have prevailed at the hearing, eliminating the need to plead guilty at all.

ii. Proof of the stop line's nonexistence undermines confidence in the trial court's decision to deny the suppression motion.

First, the stop line's nonexistence undermines the most straightforward rationale for the controverted stop. If there was a white line, and Ms. Fullmer was over it, she was in violation of WIS. STAT. § 346.46. Even if her driving was otherwise immaculate, the officer would arguably have reasonable suspicion to seize her vehicle at that time. *State v. Begicevic*, 2004 WI App 57, ¶ 6, 270 Wis.2d 675, 678 N.W.2d 293. The trial court recognized this at the time of the suppression hearing and held that this was one possible rationale for its decision denying the defense motion. (47:60).

However, Officer Liu was wrong. There was no physically existing white stop line at that intersection at that time, as the State has stipulated. Accordingly, Officer Liu made a mistake of fact. In order for a mistake of fact to justify the ensuing stop, the mistake must be "reasonable." *State v. Reierson*, No. 2010AP596-CR, ¶ 9, unpublished slip op. (Wis. Ct. App. April 28, 2011). Here, Officer Liu's mistake was clearly "unreasonable" inasmuch as it concerns his inability to properly identify rudimentary traffic markings within his own jurisdiction. Allowing a stop based on an imagined stop line is roughly analogous to upholding a stop based on an imagined

stop *sign* or stop *light*—and produces an equally absurd result. Arguably, the strongest supporting justification for the trial court's decision has now been decisively undercut. To say that this undermines confidence is to slightly understate the proposition.

Second, proof of the stop line's nonexistence undermines the believability and credibility of Officer Liu, which goes to the trial court's other two proffered rationales. While the trial court was "not particularly accepting" of this argument during postconviction proceedings, it did not make a specific finding that Officer Liu's credibility was otherwise ironclad. (51:6). The credibility of the officer is always an issue at the suppression hearing and was especially at issue in this case. See State v. Wille, 185 Wis.2d 673, 518 N.W.2d 325 (Ct. App. 1994), review denied, 524 N.W.2d 140 (1994). Proof that the officer was mistaken about a fundamental observation is extremely pertinent to the trial court's determination of his general credibility and believability. Importantly, that credibility and believability was already called into question as a result of the discrepancy between Officer's Liu's unrecorded observations of Ms. Fullmer's driving and the driving behaviors that were recorded.

If anything, the postconviction proceedings have only further imperiled Officer Liu's credibility and believability. Not only is it now provable that he made an embarrassingly inaccurate observation on the night of the stop, his testimony at the postconviction hearing is also confused, inconsistent, and self-justifying. Simply put, he is an incredibly unreliable witness as he has offered a panoply of contradictory excuses that strain credibility.

For example, he may still believe he saw the white line that all parties agree does not exist. (49:17). In and of itself, this is damaging testimony. But it gets worse. Officer Liu has also claimed, for the first time (some 2.5 years after the fact) that he *may* have mistaken the crosswalk for a stop line. That assertion makes little sense and, if anything, further calls into question Officer Liu's powers of observation and deduction. This is not a reasonable mistake to make, especially for a trained law enforcement officer. That is, although the excuse is convenient, it is not particularly convincing.

In addition, Officer Liu has offered yet another justification—the line was an imaginary legal concept. (49:17). That statement is at odds with his prior testimony, once again, and is also contrary to the legal reality. There is nothing in the traffic code that speaks of an "imaginary" white line and, in any case, that interpretation is contrary to the clear meaning of § 346.46. Inasmuch as Officer Liu contends he now made a "mistake of law" rather than of fact, his mistake may be viewed more deferentially in light of very recent Supreme Court precedent. See Heien v. North Carolina, 135 S. Ct. 530, 536 (2014). However, settled Wisconsin precedent indicates that a traffic stop cannot be based on a mistake of law. See State v. Brown, 2014 WI 69, ¶ 22, 365 Wis.2d 668, 850 N.W.2d 66. Even if this State were to adopt the Supreme Court's reasoning, however, this does not save Officer Liu: After all, a mistake of law must still be reasonable. See Heien, 135 S. Ct. at 536. A clearly invented legal standard certainly comes shy of that mark.

In any case, Officer Liu has vacillated between inconsistent positions. His explanations are completely inconsistent with the law, the facts and his own invented logic.

To suggest that this is a problem for his general credibility is an egregious understatement. Because the trial court relied on his un-corroborated observations as a basis for its ruling, this has a bearing on a reviewing court's confidence in that outcome.

Above all, the preceding shows that the very nature of the case has changed in light of trial counsel's error. New facts have been developed which are at odds with those relied on by the trial court in its ruling. In addition, a panoply of new legal concepts that must be factored into the reasonable suspicion analysis have been swept in along with these new facts. The trial court was never given an opportunity to address any of these issues or facts at the prior hearing. It would appear that the real controversy in issue is only now, in the course of postconviction proceedings, being uncovered.

Trial counsel's deficient performance therefore "could reasonably be taken to put the whole case in such a different light as to undermine confidence" in the result. *Kyles v. Whitley*, 514 U.S. 419, 435 (1995). Accordingly, reversal is warranted.

### **CONCLUSION**

Trial counsel's performance was constitutionally deficient and, inasmuch as it undermines confidence in the outcome, prejudiced Ms. Fullmer. The trial court erred by not permitting a withdrawal of Ms. Fullmer's guilty plea and should therefore be reversed on appeal.