RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN

07-09-2015

COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSINLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2015AP640-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

TAMMY R. FULLMER,

Defendant-Appellant,

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-- RESPONDENT

ON APPEAL FROM A CONVICTION IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR COLUMBIA COUNTY, THE HON. W. ANDREW VOIGT, PRESIDING AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED BY THE HON. DANIEL S. GEORGE

Respectfully submitted,

The State of Wisconsin,
Plaintiff-Respondent
Columbia County District Attorney
Attorney for the Plaintiff
400 Dewitt Street
Portage, WI 53901
(608) 742-9650

BY: TROY D. CROSS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The Respondent agrees that the issue in this case was whether trial counsel was ineffective and if so, was it prejudicial in this case.

TRIAL COURT'S ANSWER

The Trial Court answered this question, stating that the trial counsel was deficient in his performance, (R. 51 page 4, lines 21-25) however, there was not any prejudice as a result of this deficient performance. (R. 51, page 5, lines 11-14).

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The Respondent would request the opportunity to present oral argument in this case, if the Court would feel that it would be appropriate, to help further define the issues and to clear up any questions that the Court may have.

The Respondent does not request that this case be published because the Respondent believes that this case will be limited to its own facts and have little or no precedential value to future cases.

I. FACTS

The Facts in the case are contained in the transcripts of the motion hearings conducted on October 22, 2013 (R. 47), the motion hearing conducted on December 8, 2014 (R. 49), and the oral ruling held on March 6, 2015 (R. 51). Because the facts are all contained in the transcripts of the above hearings, there is no dispute in the facts, just a dispute in the law.

II. QUESTION PRESENTED

The question presented in this appeal is whether trial counsel was ineffective in his presentation of the evidence at the Motion Hearing that was conducted on October 22, 2013 (R. 47) and if so, did that prejudice the appellant, Ms. Fullmer.

The Trial Court held that the trial counsel was deficient in his performance, (R. 51 page 4, lines 21-25) however, there was not any prejudice as a result of this deficient performance. (R. 51, page 5, lines 11-14). The Plaintiff-Respondent agrees with the Trial Court's ruling in this case and asks that this Court uphold the Trial Court's ruling because it is not clearly erroneous.

III. TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS ARE NOT CLEARLY ERRONEOUS

The Respondent agrees with the Appellant that the Standard of Review for this Court on the issue of whether trial counsel was ineffective, is a mixed question of law and fact.1 It is the Respondent's position that the Trial Court's findings were not clearly erroneous, in fact, they were completely correct.

The issue for ineffective assistance of counsel is whether trial counsel's performance was deficient and prejudicial.² The only thing that the Respondent would have asked the Trial Court to do differently would have been to reverse the order of the two tests as the Wisconsin Supreme Court explained in State v. Johnson, while it was quoting the Strickland³ case.

> When reviewing a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, the Strickland Court states that courts may reverse the order of the two tests or avoid the deficient performance analysis altogether if the defendant has failed to show prejudice:

> Although we have discussed the performance component of an ineffectiveness claim prior to the prejudice component, there is no reason for a court deciding an ineffective assistance claim to approach the inquiry in the same order or even to address both components of the inquiry if the defendant makes an insufficient showing on one. In particular, a court need not determine whether counsel's performance was deficient before examining the prejudice suffered by the defendant

¹ The standard of review of the ineffective assistance of counsel components of performance and prejudice is a mixed question of law and fact. Id. at 698, 104 S.Ct. at 2070. Thus, the trial court's findings of fact, "the underlying findings of what happened," will not be overturned unless clearly erroneous. State v. Pitsch, 124 Wis.2d 628, 634, 369 N.W.2d 711 (1985) (citing sec. 805.17(2), Stats.1983-84). *128 The ultimate determination of whether counsel's performance was deficient and prejudicial to the defense are questions of law which this court reviews independently. Id. State v. Johnson, 153 Wis. 2d 121, 127-28, 449 N.W.2d 845, 848 (1990).

² Id.

³ Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. at 697, 104 S.Ct. at 2069 (1984).

as a result of the alleged deficiencies. The object of an ineffectiveness claim is not to grade counsel's performance. If it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, which we expect will often be so, that course should be followed. Courts should strive to ensure that ineffectiveness claims not become so burdensome to defense counsel that the entire criminal justice system suffers as a result.

State v. Johnson, 153 Wis. 2d 121, 128, 449 N.W.2d 845, 848 (1990).

IV. ARGUMENT

The Trial Court agreed with the Respondent in this case and found that the Defendant Appellant was not prejudiced in any way by Trial Counsel's deficient performance. (R. 51, p. 5, lines 13-14).

As this Court can see, the Respondent outlined and argued that there were six (6) different indicia of impaired driving that the Defendant Appellant exhibited on the night in question, that were completely separate and distinct from the issue regarding the stopping past the line. (R. 33, p. 4). These six indicators of impairment were sufficient, when taken together under these circumstances to equal reasonable suspicion for Officer Liu to believe that the driver of the vehicle was too impaired to safely operate it.⁴

⁴ **9.** *Reasonable Suspicion*. In order to stop a person an officer must be able to articulate specific grounds for having a "reasonable suspicion" that the individual is engaged in criminal activity. See Wis. Stat. § 968.24 (1997–98) and maj. op. at 549 n. 11 for a description of the reasonable suspicion standard.

The reasonable suspicion standard was adopted in *Richards v. Wisconsin*, 520 U.S. 385, 117 S.Ct. 1416, 137 L.Ed.2d 615 (1997), in another context. In that case, the U.S. Supreme Court held that before police execute a search warrant without knocking and

In addition to all of the other indicators of impairment that Officer Liu observed, there still was the issue of the stop. The Respondent has conceded that Officer Liu was mistaken when he testified that the Appellant failed to stop behind a stop line, because there was not a stop line to stop behind. (R. 33, p. 1). The Respondent also offered the logical explanation as to why Officer Liu mistakenly testified that there was a stop line there; that he mistook the crosswalk line for the stop line. (R. 33, p.1). This is the only rational explanation for Officer Liu believing that the Appellant did not stop at a stop line.

The Appellant has shown nothing to allege that Officer Liu made up the stop line in order to "get Ms. Fullmer." It would not be prudent for Officer Liu to make up a fictitious stop line in order to justify him stopping Ms. Fullmer's vehicle, given the existence of the cross walk at the very place that he stated there was a stop line.

Obviously, the only reasonable explanation was that Officer Liu remember the line on the road when he testified at the motion hearing on October 22, 2013 and made himself believe that it was a stop line. The stop itself had taken place over fifteen (15) months earlier, on July 1, 2012. (R. 47, p. 4, line 25). He forgot that it was really a crosswalk that Ms. Fullmer had failed to stop at.

announcing their presence, the officers must have a "reasonable suspicion," under the circumstances, that knocking would be dangerous or futile or that it would inhibit the effective investigation of the crime. Richards, 520 U.S. at 394, 117 S.Ct. 1416. Cnty. of Jefferson v. Renz, 231 Wis. 2d 293, 327, 603 N.W.2d 541, 556 (1999).

As the Respondent pointed out in its brief to the Trial Court, failing to stop before either a stop line or a crosswalk are both violations which are right next to each other in the statutes. (R. 33, p. 1-2).

It is clear that Officer Liu did not prepare sufficiently; by either reviewing his reports enough, reviewing the video tape, or going to the scene itself; before he testified at the motion hearing on October 22, 2013, because if he had, he would not have made the mistake of saying that Ms. Fullmer failed to stop before a stop line that did not exist. Officer Liu even testified that he had not viewed the video of the stop since he downloaded it, which he did not recall when that occurred. (R. 47, p. 19, lines 7-15).

The Trial Court has essentially agreed with the Respondent on this point. The Trial Court, in its oral ruling stated,

This is not a *falsus in uno* type situation where all of the officer's testimony would need to be disregarded as a result of some error concerning the presence of a stop line. There was, in fact, a crosswalk there. That could easily have provided an explanation for confusing "stop line" versus "crosswalk."

But regardless of the issue of the stop line, there is adequate evidence in the record to support the stop. (R. 51 p. 6, lines 18-25 and p. 7, lines 1-2).

V. CONCLUSION

Given the facts of this case, the Trial Court was absolutely correct in its ruling that the Appellant was not

harmed in any way by any deficient performance by trial counsel, therefore the Trial Court had the correct ruling. For all of the above mentioned reasons, the Respondent asks that this Court uphold the Trial Court's decision and deny the Appellant's appeal.